CF 26

Supreme Court of Florida

FILED

AD 1. WHITE

AUG 6 1996

PLENK, BUSYEME COURT

DANIEL LYNN OVERBEY

Petitioner,

v.

JANET CAROL HUTCHING OVERBEY n/k/a Janet Carol Tedder,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 88,370

District Court of Appeal, 5th District - No. 95-2252

PETITIONER'S

INTIAL BRIEF

DANIEL L. OVERBEY 322 E. Colfax Avenue, #102 South Bend, Indiana 46617 (219)233-1689 Petitioner pro-se.

LAWRENCE J. NIXON, Esquire Florida Bar #138403 619 North Grandview Avenue Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 258-0286 Attorney/Co-Counsel for Petitioner.

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, Daniel Overbey, was the Former Husband in the child support modification proceedings below. The Respondent, Janet Tedder, was the Former Wife. The Petitioner will be referred to herein as "Daniel" or "the Petitioner" and the Respondent will be referred to as "Janet" or "the Respondent."

References to the Appendix are enclosed in brackets indicating the section and page number(s).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The parties were married on December 22, 1982, and the marriage was dissolved by Judgment of the Court dated March 8, 1991. Pursuant to the incorporated Marital Settlement Agreement Daniel agreed to pay Janet the sum of \$200.00 per week for the support of the two (2) children, Donna Overbey (f/k/a Donna Haas) born to Janet May 3, 1979, and adopted by Daniel on February 14, 1989, and Danielle Overbey born on February 21, 1985.

In 1991, Daniel applied for admission to the University of Florida College of Law.

On April 12, 1991 Daniel was denied admission.

Daniel applied to the University of Notre Dame Law School on December 16, 1994, and was accepted for admission to the Fall 1995 entering class. Daniel's current wife was also accepted for admission to the Fall 1995 entering class at Notre Dame Law School. At the time of acceptance to Notre Dame Law School, Daniel was employed full time as a Police Officer with the City of Daytona Beach.¹

¹ [Appendix at D-1, D-2]

In May of 1995, Daniel commenced this proceeding to modify his child support obligation during his attendance at Notre Dame Law School. Daniel did *not* seek to be completely *excused* from his child support obligation. Rather, Daniel sought only to have his child support obligation modified downward to reflect his reduced income while in law school.² At the Modification Hearing, Daniel presented evidence and testimony detailing his reasons and motivations for attending law school and the preparations that he had made to provide for the children while he was there.³

Daniel supported his complaint for modification with Arce v. Arce⁴ and Milligan v. Addison,⁵ which hold that a downward modification of child support is permissible when the party owing support suffers a temporary reduction in income to pursue education when such action is taken in good faith and likely to benefit those to whom support is owed.

The trial court entered an Order Amending Final Judgment of Dissolution of Marriage on July 28, 1995,⁶ adopting the Child Support Guideline Worksheet submitted by Daniel⁷ and modifying Daniel's support obligation to \$223.72 per month until the

² [Appendix at B-1]

³ Specifically, Daniel submitted to the court documentation of a Prepaid College Fund that he had established for the older daughter along with evidence that he had arranged to continue to pay for the children's health insurance and that his decision was economically sound. [Appendix at D-1, D-2]

⁴ 566 So.2d 1308 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990). [Appendix at I-1]

⁵ 582 So.2d 769 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991). [Appendix at M-1]

⁶ [Appendix at C-1]

⁷ Although Janet waived any claim to Daniel's pension at the time of the divorce in return for all the equity in the marital home, Daniel offered to impute his entire pension, both principal and interest, as income during his attendance in law school. Daniel's child support obligation was calculated by dividing his pension fund of approximately \$27,000 into equal monthly amounts for the 36 months that he would be in school. [Appendix at F-1, F-2]

oldest child reaches majority, and then to \$166.95 per month until Daniel completed law school.⁸ Circuit Judge Julianne Piggotte found that:

- Daniel's decision to attend law school was not a "voluntarily" reduction in his
 income sufficient to impute income to him for child support purposes based
 on his earnings history;
- 2. Daniel met the "heavy burden" of proof to sustain his Supplemental Complaint for Modification and the modification of child support to further his education and attend law school at Notre Dame;
- 3. Daniel's decision to attend law school is a logical extension of his career based on his previous employment as a police officer.
- 4. The Supplemental Complaint was filed in good faith and was not an attempt by Daniel to avoid child support;
- 5. Daniel had taken appropriate steps to provide for the welfare of the minor children while he is attending law school; and
- 6. The minor children would ultimately benefit from Daniel's actions, even though the older child would reach the age of majority while Daniel is attending law school.⁹

There is no transcript of the proceeding because no court reporter was present. There is a "Statement of Proceedings Held as recorded by the Clerk of the Court" and "Former

⁸ Although not specifically addressed in the Order, it was stipulated that Janet would be eligible for an increase as soon as Daniel's income increased after law school. She would not need to show increased need, only that his income had increased. See Arce, 566 So.2d at 1312. [Appendix at I-5]

⁹[Appendix at C-1]
¹⁰[Appendix at D-1]

Husband's Additions and Corrections."11 Both documents were approved by the trial court on January 16, 1996.12

Janet appealed the trial court's decision to the Fifth District Court of Appeal alleging that the trial court erred in modifying Daniel's support obligation to reflect his reduced income while he was attending law school. On May 31, 1996, the Fifth District reversed the trial court in a two-to-one panel decision.¹³

The Fifth District characterized the issue as whether a non-custodial parent's decision to attend law school, with a consequent significant loss of income, constitutes a valid basis for a downward modification of child support. The Fifth District found an apparent conflict between decisions of the First District in State, Department of Revenue on Behalf of Johnson v. Thomas, 14 and Wollschlager v. Veal, 15 and the Third District's decisions in Arce v. Arce¹⁶ and Milligan v. Addison¹⁷.

The Fifth District held that Milligan, where the appellant left his prior employment to attend law school, was "directly on point in regard to the [instant case]. and supports the decision of the trial court as well as the position of the [Petitioner]."18 At the same time, the Fifth District distinguished Arce on the grounds that it dealt with an "education that was ongoing during the marriage." 19

[[]Appendix at E-1]

¹² [Appendix at E-4]

¹³ [Appendix at A-1]

¹⁴ 659 So.2d 1305 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). [Appendix at P-1]

¹⁵ 601 So.2d 274 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). [Appendix at S-1]

¹⁶ 566 So.2d 1308 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990). [Appendix at I-1]

¹⁷ 582 So.2d 769 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991). [Appendix at M-1]

¹⁸ Overbey v. Overbey, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1296 at 3 (Fla. 5th DCA May 31, 1996). [Appendix at A-3] 19 *Id*.

The Fifth District did not dispute any of the findings made by the trial court except the ancillary finding that law school is a logical progression of Daniel's career as a police officer.

The Fifth District interpreted the First District's position as being that a parent's voluntary act in relinquishing income, even when the parent's motives and goals are "admirable," cannot serve as justification for a modification of child support. Adopting this approach, the Fifth District certified conflict with Milligan.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case presents the Court with the issue whether a divorced parent who suffers a temporary reduction in income while completing or furthering his education may have his child support obligation temporarily modified to reflect his reduced earnings.²⁰ Neither this case nor the cases which precede and support it suggests that a divorced parent should be completely relieved of contributing to his children's support, only that he should have that support obligation temporarily modified to reflect his reduced income.

In 1991, the Third District addressed as an issue of first impression in Florida whether and how income should be imputed to a parent paying support who reduced his income to further his education.²¹ The Third District noted that courts of other states had approved such temporary reductions of child support. The court held that a spouse who

²⁰ The use of the male pronoun is not meant to suggest that the issue presented will only affect non-custodial fathers. In actuality, this issue equally affects custodial and non-custodial parents who seek modifications to assist or enable them to further their education. See infra page 24.

²¹ Arce v. Arce, 566 So.2d 1308 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990). [Appendix at I-4]

suffers a temporary reduction in income to complete his education has not voluntarily reduced his income and may be temporarily excused from having attributed to him the income which he is capable of earning but is not currently earning.

The Third District reaffirmed its position in Milligan v. Addison, holding that a father's decision to better himself financially in the future by attending law school could not be considered a voluntary reduction in income sufficient to impute income to him for child support purposes based on his earnings history.²² The Fifth District found that Milligan is directly on point with the Petitioner's case and supports the Petitioner's position and the decision of the trial court.²³

The courts' holdings in Arce and Milligan are consistent with other courts' interpretations of F.S. 61.30(2)(b), which gives a court the discretion to impute income to an under-employed or unemployed spouse when such under-employment or unemployment is found to be voluntary.²⁴ Recent interpretations of the statute include not imputing income to a spouse who participated in a legal strike;²⁵ imputing income to a dental student based only on his part-time earnings during school rather than his previous earnings;²⁶ basing a child support obligation on a spouse's actual salary during training rather than imputing additional income;²⁷ and balancing the needs and desires of the

²² 582 So.2d 769 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991). [Appendix at M-2]

²⁵ Reep v. Reep, 565 So.2d 814 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990).

²³ Overbey v. Overbey, 21 Fla. L. Weekly D1296 at 3 (Fla. 5th DCA May 31, 1996). [Appendix at A-3]

24 Fla. Stat. Ann. §61.30(2)(b) (West Supp. 1996). [Appendix at U-1]

Wollschlager v. Veal, 601 So.2d 274 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992). [Appendix at S-1] ²⁷ Sotnick v. Sotnick, 650 So.2d 157 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1995). [Appendix at N-1]

supporting parent to enhance his or her career against the current needs of the children for support.²⁸

The cases cited by the Fifth District; State, Department of Revenue v. Thomas, ²⁹ and Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Schwass, ³⁰ are clearly distinguishable from Arce, Milligan, and Overbey. The First District, in Thomas, reversed a reduction for a spouse to pursue his education because the trial court specifically found that the spouse's actions were voluntary. The Third and Fourth Districts, however, have approved such reductions upon a finding by the trial judge that the spouse seeking the reduction was *not* voluntarily unemployed or under-employed within the meaning of the statute. ³¹

Schwass, which was decided without appearance by the appellee, is distinguishable because it dealt with a spouse who voluntarily checked himself into a drug treatment program and who was determined to be financially capable of paying child support at the higher amount. Moreover, the court in Schwass found that the children's needs would not be met at the lower amount of child support that the spouse was requesting. In contrast, in Milligan and Overbey there were findings that the children's needs would be met at the lower amount.

²⁸ Ledbetter v. Bell, 658 So.2d 1147 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992). [Appendix at L-1]

Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Schwass, 622 So.2d 578 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). [Appendix at O-1]

State, Department of Revenue v. Thomas, 659 So. 2d 1305 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995). [Appendix at P-1]

Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services v. Schwass, 622 So.2d 578 (Fla. 5th

³¹ Arce, 566 So.2d at 1311 [Appendix at I-4]; Milligan, 582 So.2d at 770 [Appendix at M-2]; Ledbetter, 658 So.2d at 1148 [Appendix at L-4].

The Third District's decision in Milligan and the trial court's decision in Overbey are also consistent with Florida Statue §61.13(1)(a), which gives courts the continuing jurisdiction to modify child support when there is a substantial change in circumstances,³² and §61.30(1)(a), which permits a trier of fact to deviate from the guidelines upon a finding justifying why ordering payment of the guideline amount would be inappropriate.³³

The intent of the statutes, the decisions in other cases, and public policy all support approving Milligan. In addition the approach advocated by the Fifth District violates Article One of the Florida Constitution because it treats divorced parents differently than married parents. The Florida Supreme Court held in Grapin v. Grapin that treating divorced parents differently than married parents is "fundamentally unfair" and violates divorced parents' rights to equal protection of the laws.³⁴ Divorced parents should be able to make the same changes in their lifestyles and careers that married parents can make, to the extent that such changes are not made to avoid paying support.

Milligan gives courts the discretion to balance the needs and desires of the supporting parent to enhance his education against the current needs of the children for support. Thus, it affords divorced parents equal protection of the laws while protecting the State's interests in ensuring that children of divorced parents are adequately supported by both of their parents.

³² Fla. Stat. Ann. §61.13(1)(a) (West Supp. 1996). [Appendix at T-1]

³³ Fla. Stat. Ann. §61.30(1)(a) (West Supp. 1996). [Appendix at U-1]

³⁴ <u>Grapin v. Grapin</u>, 450 So.2d 853 (Fla. 1984) [Appendix at J-1]

Education is especially important for divorced parents. Divorce often leads to economic hardship for all concerned and, as a result, the State is often called upon to make up the difference.³⁵ The approach advocated in Milligan encourages parents to better themselves and ultimately the lives of their children. The Fifth District's approach has the opposite effect, making it difficult or impossible for divorced parents to pursue or continue an education, even when, as in Overbey, the trial court finds that the children will benefit from the parent's decision to further his education.³⁶

ARGUMENT

I. <u>MILLIGAN</u> IS CONSISTENT WITH THE LEGISLATIVE INTENT OF THE CHILD SUPPORT STATUTES, WHICH INDICATES THAT MODIFICATIONS IN CHILD SUPPORT TO FURTHER EDUCATION WERE BOTH ANTICIPATED AND PROVIDED FOR.

Florida Statutes §61.13 and §61.30 govern how child support is calculated and under what conditions it may be modified. Both the legislative intent and the explicit wording of the statutes provide for judicial intervention as needed to obtain just results. The Fifth District, however, has interpreted §61.30(2)(b) as a *per se* rule which prevents modifications of child support for parents who experience voluntary reductions in income to further their education, even when the parents' actions, as in the Petitioner's case, are determined to be in good faith and likely to benefit the children.

A. The Legislature intended that child support awards be modified to accommodate spouses who further their education.

³⁶ [Appendix at C-1]

³⁵ The economic impact of divorce is discussed *infra* at section III.

In 1993, the Legislature revised Florida Statute §61.30(7) to provide for custodial parents who wished to participate in an educational program "calculated to result in employment or to enhance income of current employment." This revision allows custodial parents to receive a temporary increase in support while they are pursuing their education. No distinction was made between "voluntary" and "involuntary" decisions. Although this section makes provisions for custodial spouses, it indicates that the legislature recognized that divorced spouses would desire to further their education and would not be able to maintain the same level of contribution to the children's support while in school.

B. The Legislature intended that courts have the discretion to modify child support obligations above or below the guidelines in certain circumstances.

The legislature provided for deviation from the guidelines based on "specified considerations." Florida Statute §61.30(1)(a) and §61.30(11)(k) codified the legislative intent to allow judicial discretion to achieve just results. Deviation from the guidelines is permitted when there is a finding that the guideline amount would be "unjust or inappropriate." Likewise, §61.30(11)(k) allows a court to adjust *either* parents' contribution as "needed to obtain an equitable result." Nothing in the legislative comments suggests that the court should deviate only when the "unjust or inappropriate"

Final Bill Analysis & Economic Impact Statement of the House of Representatives Committee on Judiciary to CS/HB 707, at 4 (1993) (Ch. 93-208 §5, Laws of Florida (eff. July 1, 1993) added to §61.30(7) "or education calculated to result in employment or to enhance income of current employment."). [Appendix at H-4]

³⁹ Fla. Stat. Ann. §61.30(11)(k) (West Supp. 1996). [Appendix at U-4]

results are the result of an involuntary act. Rather, the legislature clearly anticipated and provided for parents who make voluntary, good faith decisions to improve their lives.

C. Legislative intent takes precedence over strict interpretation of a statute.

The Florida Supreme Court has stated that "[l]egislative intent must be given effect even though it may contradict the strict letter of the statute."

The legislative intent of the child support statutes was to permit triers of fact the discretion to make modifications in child support obligations when the circumstances, as in the Petitioner's case, so warrant. Fla. Statute §61.30(2)(b), which speaks only to a method by which income may be calculated, should not be read as to defeat the obvious legislative intent of the entire section.

II. PERMITTING A NON-CUSTODIAL PARENT, WHO EXPERIENCES A TEMPORARY REDUCTION IN INCOME WHILE COMPLETING OR FURTHERING AN EDUCATION, TO BE TEMPORARILY RELIEVED OF HAVING INCOME IMPUTED TO HIM BASED ON HIS EARNINGS HISTORY IS CONSISTENT WITH FLORIDA STATUTES AND PRIOR COURT DECISIONS.

A. <u>Milligan</u> is consistent with prior decisions of the District Courts of Appeal.

ARCE V. ARCE⁴¹

In 1991, the Third District addressed as an issue of first impression in Florida, whether and how income could be imputed to parents paying support who reduced their

⁴⁰ Vildibill v Johnson, 492 So.2d 1047 (Fla. 1986) (citing State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820 (Fla. 1981)).

^{41 566} So.2d 1308 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1990). [Appendix at I-1]

income to further their education. The Third District based its decision on the finding that the long term benefit to all concerned outweighed any short term inconvenience caused by giving the father a temporary reduction in his support obligations. The Third District distinguished prior cases that had denied downward modifications to underemployed and unemployed spouses because they dealt with spouses who would not be meeting the needs of their children at the reduced level nor reasonably ensuring their children's future well-being.⁴²

Roberto and Hortensia Arce were divorced after 11 years of marriage. Roberto, like the Petitioner here, had pursued his undergraduate degree during the marriage. At the time of the divorce he was employed as an emergency room physician earning over \$100,000 per year. He sought and received a fellowship in cardiology which would pay only \$36,000 per year while he was in training. At the final hearing on the wife's petition for dissolution of marriage, Roberto Arce submitted his financial affidavit listing as income the \$36,000 that he would receive during his training. Although acknowledging that Roberto's actual income during training would only be \$36,000 per year, the trial court imputed to him the \$100,000 that he had been earning, finding that he had voluntarily reduced his income.

On appeal, the Third District reversed, citing numerous decisions from other states holding that a spouse who suffers a temporary reduction in income to complete his education has not voluntarily reduced his income.⁴³ The court held that:

A spouse who demonstrates his good faith, and whose conduct is reasonably calculated to ensure the future economic well-being of the

⁴² *Id.* at 1311. [Appendix at I-4]

⁴³ Id. See infra section II-D, Decisions of Other States and accompanying text.

persons to whom he owes support, may be *temporarily* excused from having attributed to him the income which he is capable of earning, but which he is not currently earning.⁴⁴

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