SUPREME	COURT	OF FLORIDA	
				AUG 23 1996
ŗ	DANIEL LYNN OVERBEY	*	·	CERSE SCHOLDER DE ME
	Petitioner,	* *		A Constant And
•	v.	*	CASE NO.	88,370
	JANET CAROL HUTCHING OVERBE	Y, * *		Court of Appeal, fict - No. 95-2252
	Respondent.	*		
	* * * * * * * * * * * * *	* * * *		

\*4

13

.

٠,

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

RICHARD J. D'AMICO, ESQUIRE Attorney for Appellant 154 South Halifax Avenue Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (904) 255-0932 Florida Bar No. 360317

#

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court does not have jurisdiction over this matter as no conflict which exists between this case and Milligan v. Addision, 582 So. 2d 769 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991) as the material facts of the two cases are substantially different. One of the major factors resulted in the reversal of this matter by the Fifth Disthat trict Court of Appeal was the fact that the children of the marriage were ages sixteen (16) and ten (10) at the time that Former Husband chose to attend law school. In Milligan the child was three years old when the petition was filed. Therefore, Petitioner's law school education could not result in benefit to the Furthermore, upon his resignation from the police children. force immediately before commencing law school Former Husband had total of over \$27,000 in cash which was sufficient to pay for а the entire cost of child support during his tenure in law school. Milligan had no such sum. Finally this was a modification Mr. proceeding of a Final Judgment of Divorce where Former Husband had been paying the sum of \$200 per week for over four years and thus the children had enjoyed a certain standard of living from which they should not be deprived. The Milligan case involved an initial determination in a paternity case.

The essence of Respondent's substantive argument is the fact that since child support has been specifically determined to be a legal right of the children that is imposed by the state, no modification may be granted unless the children are shown to benefit by a parent improving his education. The issue is not

whether Former Husband is permitted to go to law school. Of course he is permitted to go to law school. However, he must have the financial ability to attend law school, to support himself and support the children. He should not be permitted to allow the children to subsidize his law school education by paying a lesser amount of child support during his tenure at law school thus relegating the children to economic hard times. Since Former Husband argues that his financial situation will improve after he graduates from law school, he should then be able to make arrangements for funds to pay his child support obligation and then repay any obligations from his future wind-The children should not be required to suffer fall earnings. without possible gain in order to enhance the career of a parent who has elected to continue his education.

All of the case law that has been reported on the issue of downward modification of existing support awards for a parent that intends to seek advanced education require that the children benefit from the advanced education to be received by the parent. The children in the instant case are presently ages seventeen and eleven and Former Husband has at least two additional years of law school to complete. Thus, the older child will derive absolutely no benefit from the advanced education and the younger child may derive some speculative benefit from the advanced education. Any benefit, however, must be weighed against the tremendous sacrifices that must be made by the children during

the time that the parent is attending school. These children need support now, not an expectancy of future support.

The legislature has enacted a statute recognizing the fact that the needs of older children are greater than the needs of younger children. Thus, the needs of these older girls are increasing rather than decreasing. Under no circumstances does any of the case law apply to situations where the entire benefit will be received by the parent with none to the children. The actual result sought by Petitioner is that the children subsidize his educational enhancement.

At the time of the hearing upon the modification Former Husband had the complete and total ability to pay the full amount of child support for the entire three year projected tenure of his law school education as Former Husband had liquidated his pension account and received in excess of \$27,000.00. Since Former Husband had sufficient funds with which to pay child support he should be required to continue to pay at the original Judgment amount as the statute requires that the court may look to the assets of an obligor to make a child support determination.

POINT I. THIS COURT DOES NOT HAVE JURISDICTION OVER THIS MATTER AS NO DIRECT CONFLICT EXISTS BETWEEN THE INSTANT CASE AND THE <u>MILLIGAN</u> CASE IRRESPECTIVE OF THE DISTRICT COURT'S FINDING OF CONFLICT.

The opinion of the Fifth District Court of Appeal found that a direct conflict existed between the instant case and the case of <u>Milligan v. Addison</u>, 582 So. 2d 769 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991). In order for a direct conflict to exist, the facts of each case must be practically identical. Adopting the definition from C.J.S., the Supreme Court in <u>Ansin v. Thurston</u>, 101 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1958) at p. 811 has defined a conflict as follows:

> "A conflict of decisions \*\*\* must be on a question of law involved and determined, and such that one decision would overrule the other if both were rendered by the same court; in other words, the decisions must be based practically on the same state of facts and announce antagonistic conclusions."

In accord are <u>Kincaid v. World Ins. Co.</u>, 157 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 1963), <u>Nielsen v. City of Sarasota</u>, 117 So. 2d 731 (Fla. 1960), <u>Kyle v. Kyle</u>, 139 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1962), <u>Florida Power and Light</u> <u>v. Bell</u>, 113 So. 2d 697 (Fla. 1959). Most matrimonial actions involve vastly different fact situations and rarely does a conflict exist. <u>Milligan</u>, supra, is distinguishable from the instant case because of three substantial distinguishing factors.

Foremost of the factors is the fact that the children, at the time Former Husband herein proposed to enter law school, were of the ages of sixteen (16) and ten (10) respectively while in <u>Milligan</u>, the child was only three (3) years old at the time the

petition was filed (R-156). The ages of the children are extremely significant in the analysis of the application of the law as every reported case that has granted a modification requires that the children ultimately benefit from the additional education to be acquired by the parent. In this case, the sixteen (16) year old will never derive any benefit and any possible benefit to the ten (10) year old will be speculative at best, and of extremely limited duration.

second, and equally important distinguishing factor is The that in the instant case, when Former Husband entered law school liquidated his pension and obtained a sum of cash in he had \$27,000 (R-70,71, R-147, R-151). That amount would excess of have been sufficient to pay all child support which would have been payable for the children during the Former Husband's entire tenure in law school. At Former Husband's present child support level of \$866.00 per month at the time of trial, for the twentymonths until the oldest child reaches the age of three (23) eighteen (18), Former Husband would be required to expend the sum The balance of \$7,220 would ade-\$19,780 from those funds. of quately cover support for the remaining child for an additional year without accounting for the interest that would have been earned on those funds. In the Milligan case, the father was unable to pay the ongoing support while in school.

final distinguishing feature between the instant The case and the Milligan case is the fact that this is an appeal of а modification proceeding brought subsequent to the entry of а final judgment which had been based upon a Marital Settlement In Milligan, the appeal was from an initial support Agreement. award in a paternity case. The significance of the distinction between a modification and an initial proceeding is that in a modification proceeding the children have already been raised based upon a standard of living established by the child support ordered in the initial Court Order and the prior preseparation standard for a marriage that was entered into in 1982 (R-11). In an initial proceeding, the standard has not as yet been deter-It would indeed be cruel and unfair to substantially mined. diminish a child's standard of living after the standard had been established solely to benefit a parent's desire to improve himself educationally, especially where the children would derive little or no benefit during their minority. Children are entitled to share the good fortune of their parents. <u>Miller v.</u> Schou, 616 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 1993).

The fact is that the result in <u>Milligan</u> and the result of the Fifth District Court of Appeal in the instant case are totally consistent. In <u>Milligan</u>, the three year old child had a substantial and long-term potential to gain from the father's education, while in the instant case the standard of living that

the children had enjoyed for in excess of thirteen (13) years would substantially diminish with little or no benefit to the children because of their ages.

.

POINT II. THE PURPOSE OF CHILD SUPPORT IS TO MEET THE IMMEDIATE AND ESSENTIAL NEEDS OF THE CHILDREN. CHILD SUPPORT SHOULD NOT BE MODIFIED DOWNWARD TO SUBSIDIZE THE COST OF THE EDUCATION OF A PARENT.

The law in the State of Florida is well settled that child support is a right created for the benefit of the child and is a legal obligation imposed on the parents by the state. <u>Armour v.</u> <u>Allen, 377 So. 2d 798 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979); Cronebaugh v. Van</u> <u>Dyke, 415 So. 2d 738 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982); Thompson v. Korupp</u>, 440 So. 2d 68 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>Fowhand v. Piper</u>, 611 So. 2d 1308 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992).

In <u>Armour v. Allen</u>, supra at page 800, the Court reviewed the longstanding rule as enunciated by the Florida Supreme Court stating as follows:

> Child support is a right which belongs to the child. It is not a requirement imposed by one parent on the other; rather it is a dual obligation imposed on the parents by the State. The rule is stated by the Supreme Court in <u>State ex rel. Airston v. Bollinger</u>, 88 Fla. 123, 101 So. 282,282, (1924) and in <u>Ciociola v.</u> <u>Ciociola</u>, 302 So. 2d 462, 464 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1976), as follows:

"The father owes a duty to nurture, support, educate and protect his child, and the child has the right to call on him for the discharge of this duty. These obligations and rights are imposed and conferred by the laws of nature; and public policy, for the good of society, will not permit or allow the father to irrevocably divest himself of or to abandon them at his mere will or pleasure."

Essential to the ruling of the Court is the fact that the father may not divest himself of his obligation to support at his mere will or pleasure. In the instant case, Former Husband has elected voluntarily and unilaterally to attend law school and has further sought Court approval to substantially reduce child support which is necessary for the essential needs of the children. Reiterating the quote set forth above from <u>Airston v.</u> <u>Bollinger</u>, supra, the Court, in <u>Fowhand v Piper</u> further stated at page 1312:

> "We regard the obligation to support one's child as arising from something somewhat more sacrosanct than a contract."

is no doubt admirable that Former Husband desires to It improve himself educationally. However, this improvement of his education should not be at the expense of the children, nor should the children subsidize his education by being deprived of child support which is necessary for their essential and growing A child support amount of \$200 per week for a person needs. making \$45,000 per year is more than reasonable and is obviously necessary to support the essential needs of two girls now ages eleven (11) and seventeen (17). The previously cited cases all require Former Husband to make the necessary sacrifices to support his children and not seek court approval to deprive them of their essential needs.

The denial of Former Husband's request for modification neither violates the principal of equal protection nor essential fairness since either party would have the right to attend college, graduate school or professional school. However, the party

so electing would be responsible to provide for the essential needs of the children during the period that the parent is attending school. This applies equally to both parents. In the event that Former Wife desired to further her education the law imposes no obstacle other than that the the children must be supported during her educational process.

Since the Former Husband is now able to finance a private law school education at considerable expense, he should have funded the cost of his children's support during that educational Former Husband could well have treated child support process. like any other living expense. Even though he is attending law school, he still must defray the cost of food, clothing, shelter, tuition, books, and all other normal living expenses. Child support should have been included in his financial planning. He could easily have funded all of his expenses including child support from his existing pension funds, student loans, qifts, and Summer earnings. Former Husband's attempt at modification is merely a request to have his children pay for a portion of his law school education. By reducing the needed support the to children Former Husband has more funds available with which to pay for his education. This result is obviously indicative of Former Husband's desire to place his own personal needs ahead of those of his children.

Former Husband's argument that Florida Statute 61.30(7) in some manner supports his argument is misplaced and totally inapplicable to the instant case. That Section was enacted by the

legislature to require the obligor to contribute toward <u>childcare</u> while the custodial parent sought employment or education. It is not indicative of any general legislative intent to permit parents to arbitrarily substantially reduce their support obligations for their own personal educational gains.

Former Husband's argument, in fact, is incongruous. If he truly believes that by completing law school he will significantly increase his earning potential, then he should be able to borrow or otherwise obtain the funds necessary to pay the child support at the present level and then repay those funds when his income increases substantially. Otherwise, if the child support is reduced from the amount set forth in the original judgment, Former Wife will either be forced to borrow money or reduce the children's standard of living. Thus, the children would be in effect subsidizing their father's law school education, and because of their ages, never derive any further benefit whatsoever. Former Husband's desire to avoid payment of child support during his tenure at law school is a selfish act which utterly disregards the needs of the children. Such a result further violates the spirit and intent of Armour v. Allen, Supra, <u>Crone-</u> baugh v. Van Dyke, Supra, Thompson v. Korupp, Supra, and Fowhand v. Fowhand, Supra.

While Respondent has conceded that Former Husband has not acted in bad faith in applying to law school, the fact is that Former Husband had previously attempted a downward modification

of child support in 1993, prior to his acceptance at law school. He commenced this modification proceeding even though his income had increased since the date of the initial final judgment (R-32,33, R-152). The trial judge, of course, dismissed his petition. An award of attorney's fees to Former Wife was reversed by the 5th District Court of Appeals in <u>Overbey v. Overbey</u>, 664 So. 2d 351 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). Former Wife has been in litigation with Former Husband almost without respite since the first modification proceeding was filed in 1993, and has been forced to incur attorney's fees, expenses and loss of work time to defend against Former Husband's almost fanatical rage against the payment of child support. His actions are totally self centered and ignore the essential needs and best interests of the children.

POINT III. PETITIONER'S UNILATERAL AND VOLUNTARY DECISION TO ATTEND LAW SCHOOL DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A SUBSTANTIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES WARRANTING A REDUCTION IN CHILD SUPPORT. THIS VOLUNTARY ELECTION WILL NOT RESULT IN ANY BENEFIT TO THE CHILDREN SINCE THEY ARE OF AN AGE WHERE THEY WILL REACH MAJORITY BEFORE FORMER HUSBAND MAY POSSIBLY DERIVE ANY APPRECIABLE ADDITIONAL INCOME AND THIS ADDITIONAL INCOME IS HIGHLY SPECULATIVE.

## A. SUBSTANTIAL CHANGE OF CIRCUMSTANCES:

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